
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN DIGITAL MODELS, DIGITAL
DATA, AND TREATMENT PLANS FOR USE Investigation N0. 337-TA-833
IN MAKING INCREMENTAL DENTAL
POSITIONING ADJUSTNIENT APPLIANCES,
THE APPLIANCES MADE THEREFROM,
AND METHODS OF MAKING THE SAME

COMMISSION OPINION ON MOTION TO CLARIFY OR MODIFY CEASE
AND DESIST ORDERS

I. Introduction

On April 3, 2014, the Commission issued a final determination finding

ClearCorrect Operating, LLC, of Houston, Texas (“CCUS”), and ClearCorrect Pakistan

(Private), Ltd. (“CCPK”) (collectively, “ClearCorrect”), in violation of section 337 of the

Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), in the importation into the United

States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of

certain digital models, digital data, and treatment plans for use in making incremental

dental positioning adjustment appliancesl The Commission’s detennination rested on

findings of infringement with respect to five patents owned by complainant Align

‘ While Commissioner Johanson concurs that the Commission’s cease and desist
orders proscribe activities involving imported covered products and not wholly domestic
conduct, he is of the view that no violation occurred and, accordingly, no remedy should
have issued. Thus, he does not join this opinion.
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Technology, Inc. (“Align”) of San Jose, Califomia. As a remedy for the violation of

section 337, the Commission issued cease and desist orders directed to CCUS and CCPK.

On April 16, 2014, ClearCorrect filed a motion to correct or clarify the cease and

desist orders. Resp’ts’ Mot. to Correct or Clarify Cease and Desist Orders (April 16,

2014) (“Mot”). On April 28, 2014, Align filed a response. Compl’nt Align Tech., Inc.’s

Opp’n to Resp’ts’ Mot. to Correct or Clarify Cease and Desist Orders (April 28, 2014)

(“Opp”). The Commission investigative attorney did not file a response.

When viewed as a whole, the orders in question do not purport to proscribe

“wholly domestic conduct,” as questioned by ClearCorrect. Accordingly, the

Commission has determined that ClearCorrect’s motion need only be granted to the

extent it is necessary to emphasize that point.

II. DISCUSSION

A. ClearCorrect’s Motion

ClearCorrect requests clarification of two parts of the April 3, 2014, cease and

desist orders.2 First, ClearCorrect seeks clarification of the preamble of the orders. Mot.

at 1. The preamble language identified by ClearCorrect is as follows:

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT ClearCorrect . . . cease and
desist from conducting any of the following activities in the United States:
(1) g (includingthroughelectronictransmission);(2) marketing,
selling, distributing, and transferring (including through electronic
transmission, except for exportation); (3) advertising in the United States;
and (4) soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for digital models, digital
data, and treatment plans for use in making incremental dental positioning
adjustment appliances or the appliances made therefrom covered by one or
more of (i) claims 1 and 4-8 of U.S. Patent No. 6,705,863 (“the ’863
patent”); (ii) claims l, 3, 7, and 9 of U.S. Patent No. 6,626,666 (“the ’666
patent”); (iii) claims l, 3, and 5 of U.S. Patent No. 8,070,487 (“the ’487

2 The cease and desist orders against CCUS and CCPK are identical in all
respects material to ClearCorrect’s motion.
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patent”); (iv) claims 21, 30, 31 and 32 of U.S. Patent No. 6,217,325 (“the
’325 patent”); and (v) claim l of U.S. Patent No. 6,722,880 (“the ’880
patent”) in violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended
(19 U.S.C. § 1337).

Cease and Desist Orders at 1 (underlining added).

ClearCorrect argues that Whilesubsection (1) of the preamble prohibits

“importing” digital data for use in making dental appliances, later subsections could be

construed to prohibit some unspecified conduct that is allegedly “wholly domestic.” For

example, ClearCorrect contends that subsection (3) of the preamble prohibits “advertising

within the United States of products made exclusively within the United States from

processes that occur only in the United States.” Mot. at 2.

Second, ClearCorrect seeks clarification of certain prohibitions enumerated in

Section III(B) of the orders. Mot. at 3. Section lII(B) states that ClearCorrect shall not:

market, distribute, sell or otherwise transfer (including through electronic
transmission) in the United States (except for exportation) imported
covered products or angproducts made using covered products.

Cease and Desist Orders at Sec. lIl(B) (underlining added). ClearCorrect believes the

Commission intended the word “imported” to be included in the final clause so that the

provision would read “imported covered products or any products made using imported

covered products.” Mot. at 3. Unless “covered products” is modified to mean “imported

covered products,” ClearCorrect contends, the provision could be read to prohibit the

marketing, distribution, or sale of any domestic products made by using wholly domestic

covered products. Id.3

3 ln Section I(G), the orders define “covered products” as follows:

The term “covered products” shall mean digital models, digital data, and
treatment plans for use in making incremental dental positioning adjustment
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B. Analysis

ClearCorrect’s motion purports to question whether the cease and desist orders

cover activities not related in any way to imported covered products. But the motion also

substantially answers the question. As ClearCorrect admits, with the possible exception

of the two passages cited above, “all of the prohibited conduct [in the cease and desist

orders] is tied to activities involving the use of ‘imported covered productsf” Mot. 2.

We affnm that the conduct prohibited by the cease and desist orders, including the

language in the preamble and Section III(B), involves imported covered products.

The opening paragraph of section 337 sets the context for the orders at issue here:

(a) Ufll£lW_fiJlactivities; covered industries; definitions

(1) Subject to paragraph (2), the following are unlawful, and when found
by the Commission to exist shall be dealt with, in addition to any other
provision of law, as provided in this section:

(B) The importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or
the sale within the United States after importation by the owner,
importer, or consignee, of articles that—

(i) infringe a valid and enforceable United States patent . . .; or

(ii) are made [or] processed . . . by means of, a process covered by
the claims of a valid and enforceable United States patent.

19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(B). The activities that “shall be dealt with” by the Commission

are “the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the

United States after importation” of articles that infringe a patent or are made or processed

appliances and the appliances made therefrom covered by one or more of
(i) claims 1and 4-8 of the ‘863 patent; (ii) claims 1, 3, 7, and 9 of the ‘666 patent;
(iii) claims 1,3, and 5 of the ‘487 patent; (iv) claims 21, 30, 31 and 32 ofthe ‘325
patent; and (v) claim 1 of the ‘880 patent. Covered products shall not include
articles for which a provision of law or license avoids liability for the
infringement of the claims listed above.

Cease and Desist Orders at Sec. I(G).
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using a patented process. The Commission’s cease and desist orders in this investigation

are to remedy ClearCorrect’s acts “involved” in violations of the statute, see 19 U.S.C.

§ 1337(1), and all violations of section 337 are tied to importation, see id. at

§ 1337(a)(1)(B). Thus, even if the orders were unclear on their face (as ClearCorrect

incorrectly argues), the acts prohibited by the orders still would implicitly involve the

imported covered products as contemplated in the statute.4 Every passage of the cease

and desist orders need not use the “imported” modifier when proscribing activities

relating to covered articles. '

In opposing ClearCorrect’s motion, Align asserts that the Commission has issued

remedial orders in past investigations that were directed to “wholly domestic conduct.”

Opp. at 4-5. Align’s argument rests on language from our past opinions taken out of the

context of the facts of those cases. All of the opinions cited by Align dealt with imported

goods. In the cited decisions, the Commission restricted advertising, distribution, or

conversion of goods that had already been imported into the United States. See, e.g.,

Certain Baseband Processor Chips and Chipsets, Transmitter and Receiver (Radio)

Chips, Power Control Chips, and Products Containing Same, Including Cellular

Telephone Handsets, Inv. No. 337-TA-543, Comm’n Op. on Remedy, the Public Interest,

and Bonding, 20ll WL 6121182, *65 (Oct. 2011) (“The ALJ also found that ‘Qualcomm

has a commercially significant inventory of imported product in the United States and . . .

a cease and desist order against Qualcomm’s importations and sales, and also barring

4 The Commission’s remedial orders must be interpreted in the context of the
statutory scheme enacted by Congress. See FTC v. Ruberoid Co., 343 U.S. 470, 475-76
(1952) (interpreting a remedial order to contain provisos “necessarily implicit in every
order issued under the authority of the [relevant] Act, just as if the order set them out in
extenso”).
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Qualcomm from converting the imported chips to infringing articles and marketing such

infringing chips is appropriate.”’). Similarly, when the Commission prohibited the

domestic sale of tractors that had infringing trademarks affixed in the United States, the

tractors in question had been imported. Certain Agricultural Tractors Under 50 Power

Take-ofi"Horsepower, lnv. No. 337-TA-3 80, Comm’n Determination, 1999 WL 631001,

*20 (Aug. 18, 1999).

We caution that C1earCorrect should not construe our opinion today to provide a

safe harbor for a specific course of conduct. ClearCorrect’s motion did not ask whether a

particular course of conduct is beyond the scope of the cease and desist orders;

consequently, this opinion takes no position as to whether any hypothetical conduct that

ClearCorrect might characterize as “wholly domestic” falls within or outside the scope of

the orders. Rather, ClearCorrect sought clarification about how the orders should be

interpreted with respect to the Cornmission’s statutory authority. ClearCorrect may avail

itself of the Commission’s post-order procedures to obtain a ruling from the Commission

conceming whether a proposed course of conduct would violate the cease and desist

orders. See, e.g., 19 C.F.R. §2l0.79.

III. CONCLUSION

In sum, the Commission reiterates that the cease and desist orders issued in this

investigation proscribe only activities involving imported covered products. Because the

Commission finds that the orders are clear, when read in Wholeand in context, no

modification of the orders is necessary.

6



By order of the Commission.

Issued: September 16, 2014

7%
Lisa R. Barton
Secretary to the Commission

1
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